FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 22-0111

NORM LAUNI, II,

Plaintiff, Below, Petitioner

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

Vs.)

19-C-15 (Mineral County)

THE HAMPSHIRE COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY'S OFFICE, and COUNTY OF HAMPSHIRE, WEST VIRGINIA, et al. Defendants Below, Respondents.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Counsel for the Petitioner,

Christian J. Riddell, Esquire WV Bar #12202 The Riddell Law Group 329 S. Queen Street Martinsburg, WV 25401 (304)267-3949 mail@theriddelllawgroup.com

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The Circuit Court erred by dismissing Petitioner's claims for malicious prosecution against Defendants James, Nazelrod, and Ours.
- The Circuit Court erred by dismissing Petitioner's claims of Civil Conspiracy against Defendants James, Nazelrod, and Ours.
- The Circuit Court erred by dismissing Petitioner's claims of Abuse of Process against
 Defendant Nazelrod.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns the prosecution of a decorated police officer in Mineral County West Virginia, Petitioner Sergeant Norman Launi, on charges that everyone involved knew to be false in an attempt to drive said Petitioner from employment.

From the date of his election in 2013 until his appointment to his current position in Morgan County, West Virginia in September of 2017, Respondent Dan James was the Prosecutor in Hampshire County, West Virginia. See Complaint, Appendix Record ("Appendix Record pg. 4) ¶ 3. During this time, Petitioner was a Detective with the Hampshire County Sheriff's Department, and worked regularly with Respondent James. The animus with which Respondent James treated Petitioner began in November of 2013, when a gathering of the Hampshire County law enforcement community was held on a property leased by members of the Hampshire County law enforcement, including the Respondent James, who was present at the gathering. Id. at ¶ 4. After consuming some alcohol, several members of the Hampshire County Law Enforcement Community, as a practical joke, placed a bear carcass - a subject of some amused discussion that evening - in the back of Respondent James' pickup truck prior to

his departure. *Id.* at ¶ 4. Upon discovering the carcass, Respondent James became angry with the members of the HCSD and with Petitioner most of all. *Id.* at ¶ 7.

Tensions between the two were exacerbated after the passing of Captain John Eckerson of the HCSD, Petitioner's partner. *Id.* at ¶ 11. Captain Eckerson's death is believed to have occurred as the result of contact with an illicit substance during a field test. *Id.* at ¶ 11. Shortly after Captain Eckerson's passing, an examination of his phone was performed by the West Virginia State Police. *Id.* at ¶ 13. Respondent James obtained and reviewed this data. *Id.* at ¶ 13. Upon review of the data, Respondent James saw mocking and derisive texts between Captain Eckerson and numerous members of the HCSD. *Id.* at ¶ 14. On August 18, 2017, Respondent James made statements to members of the HCSD accusing the Petitioner of playing a role in the death of Captain John Eckerson. *Id.* at ¶ 15. These statements were made in spite of the fact that Respondent James knew the Petitioner to have been out of town on scheduled leave at the time of Captain Eckerson's demise. *Id.* at ¶ 15.

In September of 2016, Respondent James contacted Assistant U.S. Attorney Paul Camiletti, the Federal Bureau of Investigations, and the Drug Enforcement Administration, requesting they investigate the circumstances surrounding Captain Eckerson's death. *Id.* at ¶ 16. Despite Respondent James' requests, all agencies declined the invitation to investigate. *Id.* at ¶ 17. At around the same time - between August 17, and September 30, 2016 - Respondent James contacted the West Virginia State Police ("WVSP") and requested assistance investigating the events surrounding Captain Eckerson's death. *Id.* at ¶ 18. The WVSP assigned Respondent Cpl. Scott Nazelrod to the case. *Id.* at ¶ 19.

In October of 2016, numerous packages believed to be carrying narcotics, bound for the WVSP Crime Lab for analysis, went missing from the postal center located in Charleston, West

Virginia. *Id.* at ¶ 20. It was believed the missing packages were stolen in transit. *Id.* at ¶ 20. After an investigation conducted by the USPS, it was discovered that an employee of the USPS or another postal carrier was responsible. *Id.* at ¶ 21. Despite USPS's finding, Respondent James continued to accuse the Petitioner and other members of the HCSD of the thefts. *Id.* at ¶ 22.

On or about January 25, 2017, Respondent James advised Corporal Nazelrod that he was aware of possible recordings of alleged domestic violence between the Petitioner and his former paramour, Penny Hartman. *Id.* at ¶ 28. Upon learning that the Petitioner had pressed charges against Ms. Hartman for phone harassment, Respondent James, either personally or through a subordinates, opportunistically filed a petition to revoke Ms. Harman's bond on a prior charge for driving under the influence, which she had acquired in late December of 2016. *Id.* ¶ 32. It was through this bond revocation that Respondent James leveraged Penny Hartman's freedom in order to force her to pursue charges against the Petitioner for domestic violence. *Id.* at ¶ 33.

In addition to placing pressure on Penny Hartman, Respondent James also continued to make public statements against the Petitioner to other members of the Hampshire County Law Enforcement Community regarding the alleged statements provided by Ms. Hartman. *Id.* at ¶ 34. Demonstrating further animus and distrust of the HCSD, in February of 2017, Respondent James then stated that he would refuse to prosecute any drug cases brought by the HCSD until a drug testing protocol was in place for officers involved in drug interdiction. *Id.* at ¶ 36. This assertion was made by Respondent James with the knowledge that such a protocol was already in existence. *Id.* at ¶ 36. Also on or about February 4, 2017, Respondent James directed Corporal Nazelrod to interview Penny Hartman, despite the fact that he was on special assignment to Hampshire County to investigate the death of Captain Eckerson and Ms. Hartman's allegations had nothing at all to do with Cpt. Eckerson. *Id.* at ¶ 35.

Upon Ms. Hartman's release, on or about February 8, 2017 and pursuant to a plea agreement, Respondent Nazelrod instructed Ms. Hartman to file for a domestic violence protective order. *Id.* at ¶¶ 37, 40. The most recent allegation of domestic violence contained in the petition occurred more than five (5) months prior to the entry of the petition. *Id.* at ¶ 41. As her primary reason for requesting the protective order, Ms. Hartman stated that the investigation of the domestic violence allegation made her fear for her safety. *Id.* at ¶ 42. Fearing that Ms. Hartman's petition would be denied, Respondent Nazelrod contacted Magistrate John Rohbaugh at home and personally requested that the protective order issue. *Id.* at ¶ 44. As a result of the entry of the protective order, the Petitioner's firearms were relinquished and he was unable to work as a law enforcement officer. *Id.* at ¶ 45.

On or about February 9, 2017, Petitioner's attorney, Jonathan Brill, who he had retained to represent him in the proceedings surrounding the protective order, called Respondent James and attempted to speak with him about the recordings he possessed. *Id.* at ¶ 47. During the brief conversation with Respondent James, it was apparent that he was not going to provide Mr. Brill with a copy of the recordings. *Id.* at ¶ 47. Before ending the conversation Respondent James, again falsely accused Petitioner of criminal involvement in the death of Captain Eckerson. *Ibid.*

On February 10, 2017, Petitioner met with Respondent Nazelrod, in the Moorefield State Police Barracks for the purposes of giving a statement regarding allegations made by Penny Hartman. *Id.* at ¶ 48. The interview was divided into two (2) separate and distinct parts, part 1 of which lasted one (1) hour. *Id.* at ¶48. In part 1, Respondent Nazelrod indicated that he was originally sent to Hampshire County to investigate the circumstances surrounding Captain Eckerson's death and had been instructed by Respondent James to investigate Penny Hartman's allegations. *Id.* at ¶ 48.

As the interview progressed, Respondent Nazelrod began questioning the Petitioner about allegations made by Ms. Hartman of Domestic Abuse. *Id.* ¶ 48(b). Respondent Nazelrod first inquired of the circumstances alleged by Ms. Hartman to have occurred in May of 2016, wherein Ms. Hartman sustained bruises and broken ribs. *Id.* at ¶ 48(c). Petitioner explained that they had come from a physical confrontation with her daughter, Robin, and that he was in no way responsible. *Id.* at ¶ 48(c)(i). He then cited three (3) separate instances of physical altercations between Robin and Ms. Hartman. *Id* at ¶ 48(c)(ii). Petitioner even provided an alibi, stating that he was not in town when the altercation occurred. *Id* at ¶ 48(c)(iii).

Respondent Nazelrod, then inquired as the allegation arising in July 2016. *Id.* at ¶48 (d). Again, the Petitioner categorically denied striking Ms. Hartman or inflicting any physical violence upon her. *Id* at i. Petitioner then demonstrated that Ms. Hartman was verifiably lying because there were no pictures sent, as she had claimed, from her phone to the Sherriff of Hampshire County, and Cpl. Nazelrod admitted his knowledge of such. *Id.* at ¶ 48(e)(ii).

Respondent Nazelrod also asked the Petitioner about the events surrounding Ms.

Hartmans allegations to have taken place in September of 2016. Id. at ¶48(e). Again, the

Petitioner provided numerous witnesses that could verify that the Petitioner had not harmed Ms.

Hartman, witnesses that Respondent Nazelrod never interviewed. Id. at ¶48(e)(ii).

In addition to his denials and alibis, the Petitioner offered Cpl. Nazelrod numerous other examples of conduct on the part of Ms. Hartman that would lead a reasonable investigator to view her allegations with skepticism. *Id.* at ¶ 48(g). He even showed Cpl. Nazelrod several instances where Ms. Hartman had texted him, threatening the Petitioner with false allegations if he did not resume a romantic relationship with her. *Id.* at ¶ 48(k).

Part 2 of the interview lasting approximately thirty (30) minutes. *Id.* at ¶ 49. Nazelrod began by, again, confirming that the Respondent James initiated the investigation into the Petitioner. *Id.* at ¶ 49(a). He then renewed his line of questioning by asking Petitioner about his allegations of telephone harassment against Ms. Hartman. *Id* at ¶ 49 (b). In response, the Petitioner provided Respondent Nazelrod with numerous text messages from Ms. Hartman requesting that he, again, resume his relationship with her. *Id.* at (c). Petitioner also again provided numerous examples of Ms. Hartman engaging in harassing behavior and threatening him with false allegations. *Id.* at ¶ 49(c),(d),(e),(h).

After hearing these examples of Ms. Hartman's outrageous conduct, Respondent Nazelrod began, again, addressing the nature of his, and Respondent James' involvement in the investigation. *Id.* at ¶ 49(k)i. In doing so, Respondent Nazelrod indicated that Respondent James had spoken with him regarding certain recordings he had been made aware of by Ms. Hartman allegedly showing instances of domestic violence. *Id.* at ii.

In late March of 2017, Respondent James, began actively interviewing witnesses in the investigation of the Petitioner. *Id.* at ¶ 51. At least one of these witnesses was subpoenaed for the Petitioner's criminal trial by the State. *Id.* at ¶ 53.

As the investigation continued, Respondent James' animus toward the Petitioner increased. On or about March 2, 2017, Respondent James discovered that his picture was located on the same bulletin board as targets of ongoing criminal investigations. *Id.* at ¶ 54. Though this was done as a humorous take on Respondent James' treatment of local law enforcement, Respondent James lost his temper and spouted obscenities: *Id.* at ¶ 55.

On April 6, 2017, the Petitioner contacted Respondent Nazelrod and inquired as to the status of the Hartman investigation. *Id.* at ¶ 56. In response, Respondent Nazelrod stated that he

would be filing a complaint and that Ms. Hartman wanted to press charges. *Id.* at ¶ 56.

Respondent Nazelrod, in direct contravention of his previous statements at the Moorefield Barracks regarding the Petitioner's own grounds for pressing harassment charges, refused to take any complaints from the Petitioner related to incidents of telephone harassment. *Id.* at ¶ 56.

In Respondent Nazelrod's complaint, the Petitioner was charged with three separate instance of Domestic Battery and one count of domestic assault. *Id.* at ¶ 58. In his narrative Respondent Nazelrod alleges that he was on assignment to investigate "non professional conduct of specific members of the Hamphire County Sherriff's Department." *Id.* at ¶ 59(a). With no corroborating evidence and no discussion of any of the witnesses mentioned by the Petitioner, Respondent Nazelrod requested a warrant for the Petitioner. *Id.* at ¶ 59(e)(i-v). Respondent Nazelrod made no mention of the Petitioner's statement or any of the information obtained during that interview. *Ibid.* It was further revealed that much of the evidence claimed to exist in the videos provided by Ms. Hartman was not present. *Id.* at ¶ 59(f). The Narrative in support of the complaint described the alleged incidents without making mention of the witnesses referenced by the Petitioner in his interview with Respondent Nazelrod. *Id.* at ¶ 60.

It is reasonably believed that Respondent James drafted the Narrative in support of Respondent Nazelrod's complaint. *Id.* at ¶ 61. This is due to the fact that it does not follow the standard structure of complaint writing and it appears to have been drafted by an individual with legal training. *Id.*

After being arraigned on the charges set forth in Respondent Nazelrod's complaint, the Petitioner was again stripped of his weapons and unable to work. *Id.* at ¶ 62. After the Petitioner's arraignment, Respondent James, during a conversation with Amber Talley, a director

of a local non-profit, stated humorously that he would never have to work with "that son of a bitch again." *Id.* at ¶ 63.

As the case proceeded to trial, Penny Hartman made numerous calls contacting the Petitioner's trial counsel as well as Special Prosecutor Ours requesting the charges be dismissed. *Id.* at ¶ 72. Before trial, subpoenas were served on Ms. Hartman as well as other witnesses. *Id.* at ¶ 75. Ms. Hartman was served by Respondent Nazelrod and Corporal Spence of the West Virginia State Police, though neither of them were stationed in Mineral County. *Id.* at ¶ 76. After the Petitioner's trial, Ms. Hartman communicated to the Petitioner that they had come to her home to intimidate her into testifying against the Petitioner. *Id.* at ¶ 77.

In June of 2017, Respondent Ours requested that Penny Hartman be deposed – a highly unusual act in criminal cases in the State of West Virginia. ¶78. The stated purpose of this deposition was to document that Ms. Hartman did not want to pursue criminal charges so that, should she testify as such, they could dismiss the case. *Id.* at ¶79. At the deposition, taken on June 12, 2017, Ms. Hartman indicated that the information relayed by Respondent Nazelrod in his complaint was not as she reported it and that she wanted the charges dismissed. *Id.* at ¶83(g). After the Deposition, Respondent Ours went back on his previous statement to defense counsel that he would dismiss the case, and instead proceeded to trial. *Id.* at ¶84.

On or about June 12, 2017, Respondent James met with Jim King, a reporter with the Hampshire County Review, a local newspaper. *Id.* at ¶ 86. Two days later, a story about the Petitioner's pending case was printed with a picture of the Petitioner on the front page. *Id.* at ¶ 87. Said article contained information that only someone in possession of the State's discovery in the Petitioner's criminal case could have known. *Id.* at ¶ 88. The Complaint asserts that

Respondent James relayed this case-specific information with the intent to harass and besmirch the reputation of the Petitioner. ¶89.

At a September 2017 pre-trial hearing held before the presiding Magistrate Gilbronson, it was again brought up that Penny Hartman, the alleged victim and key witness for the State, wanted the case dropped. *Id.* at ¶ 90. The Magistrate indicated that if the State did not object and Ms. Hartman wanted the case dismissed, he would dismiss it. *Id.* Respondent Ours, speaking on behalf of the State, objected and the case was set for trial on October 24 and 27, of 2017.

Also, in September of 2017, Respondent James continued to demonstrate hostility towards the Petitioner when he confronted Amber Talley regarding the recordings that she had previously made of him. *Id.* at ¶ 93. This confrontation took place at an MDIT meeting in front of other members of the community. *Ibid.* Petitioner avers that Respondent James only had knowledge of this recording because he had access to the Respondent's reciprocal discovery and was actively participating in the Petitioner's prosecution. *Id.* at ¶ 94.

During final preparations for trial with his Defense Counsel, the Petitioner reviewed the transcript and the recording that had been provided in discovery by the State. *Id.* at ¶ 101. Upon review of the information provided, it was clear that only a portion of the recording had been provided. *Id.* More specifically, the portion where Respondent Nazelrod indicates Respondent James' involvement were missing. *Id.* However, albeit unknown to Respondent Nazelrod, the Petitioner had made his own recording of the February 10th conversation and preserved the missing thirty-six (36) minutes, thereby catching Respondents in an attempt to falsify evidence. *Id.* at ¶¶ 102-103.

On the first day of trial, Petitioner, through his counsel, informed the Court that

Respondent Ours had failed to comply with discovery by suppressing exculpatory evidence - the

missing thirty-six (36) minutes of the February 10, 2017, statement. *Id.* at ¶ 104. In response to this, Respondent Ours inexplicably moved to hold the Petitioner in contempt for not turning over the un-tampered with footage which, but for the tampering, should have already been in the State's Possession. *Id.* at ¶ 105. After ruling that the parties would proceed to trial, the presiding Magistrate reprimanded Respondent Nazelrod. *Id.* at ¶ 106. It is the Petitioner's reasonable belief, based on the facts available that Respondent James directed Respondent Nazelrod to suppress said evidence. *Id.* at ¶ 107.

During the State's case in chief, all of the witnesses called, with the exception of Respondent Nazelrod, stated that Penny Hartman was not credible. *Id.* at ¶ 111. During cross examination, Ms. Hartman openly denied that the Petitioner had ever engaged in domestic violence against her. *Id.* at ¶ 113. After the taking of all testimony and closing arguments the Petitioner was acquitted in approximately twenty (20) minutes. *Id.* at ¶ 114.

On or about October 29, 2018, Petitioner filed a Complaint in the Circuit Court of Morgan County – subsequently transferred to Mineral County – naming each of the Respondents as Defendants and alleging causes of action for Malicious Prosecution, Abuse of Process, Civil and Civil Conspiracy against the Respondents . *Id.* at ¶ 116-149. Plaintiff's also brought an Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress claim against Defendant James. *Id.* at ¶ 130-135. In response, all named Defendants, including the Respondents, filed motions to dismiss all claims. Thereafter, Mineral County Circuit Court Judge James Courier, issuing three separate opinions for each of the Respondents, dismissed all causes of action against all parties except Petitioner's claim for Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress against Respondent James. Petitioner then moved for certification under Rule 54(b) to appeal the dismissed causes of action prior to

adjudication of the remaining IIED claim against Respondent James, which was granted on January 14, 2022 (AR pg. 280). This appeal follows.

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred in dismissing Petitioner's claims of malicious prosecution against Respondents James, Ours, and Nazelrod. Specifically, the Court erred in finding that absolute immunity applied to James and Ours because the actions complained of by Petitioner were investigative or administrative, not advocatory in nature. The Court further erred in finding that there was probable cause to arrest and prosecute based on the findings of the Mineral County Magistrate because such findings were based on fraudulent, falsified, or corrupted evidence.

The Circuit Court further erred in dismissing Petitioner's abuse of process claims against

Defendant Nazelrod because the allegations in the Complaint against Respondent Nazelrod

plainly amount to an assertion that Respondent Nazelrod misused and misapplied lawful process
to accomplish a purpose not intended by that process.

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