FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA APPEAL NO.: 22-0111



NORM LAUNI, II,

Plaintiff Below, Petitioner

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

v.

THE HAMPSHIRE COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY'S OFFICE, and COUNTY OF HAMPSHIRE, WEST VIRGINIA, et al.

Defendants Below, Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

From the Circuit Court of Mineral County, WV Civil Action No.: 19-C-15

James W. Marshall, III (WV Bar #10677)

BAILEY & WYANT, PLLC

115 West King Street

Martinsburg, WV 25401

304-901-2000

Adam K. Strider (WV Bar #12483)
BAILEY & WYANT, PLLC
500 Virginia Street, East, Suite 600
Post Office Box 3710
Charleston, West Virginia 25337-3710
(304) 345-4222

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The instant appeal lacks merit for a number of compounding reasons, starting with the Circuit Court's correct application of absolute prosecutorial immunity. In West Virginia, as at federal common law, prosecutors are entitled to absolute immunity for acts they take within the scope of their role as an advocate of the state, even if done maliciously or with an otherwise improper motive. The relevant acts of which the Appellant accuses Appellees James and Ours as the basis for his claims of Malicious Prosecution and Abuse of Process are inarguably within that scope, and therefore protected by absolute immunity.

The acts include the decisions by both Appellees James and Ours to go forward with the prosecution at various points at which the Appellant alleges probable cause was lacking. Further, he alleges that the Appellees conspired with Appellee Nazelrod to perpetrate a *Brady* violation. He also alleges that Appellee James revoked Ms. Hartman's bond in order to leverage her into pressing charges against the Appellant, and that Appellee Ours took Ms. Hartman's deposition under false pretenses. The case law is clear that these are all tasks which are within the scope of a prosecutor's duties and the Circuit Court committed no error in so holding.

However, even if any of the aforementioned allegations against Appellees James and Ours were found to be outside the scope of absolute immunity, they would nonetheless be entitled to qualified immunity, because the Complaint below does not allege a violation of any clearly

⁴ The docket sheet provided by the Appellant reflects the filings as of the notice of appeal in No. 20-0704. The docket sheet reflecting the current status of the proceedings prior to this appeal was not included by the Appellant in the Joint Appendix.

established right. In relevant part, the Circuit Court committed no error in holding that the Appellant was charged and prosecuted upon probable cause. As discussed in greater depth in the forthcoming sections of this brief, the information which the Appellant alleges was omitted from the Criminal Complaint would not, if included, have defeated probable cause. This is further reinforced by the fact that the Magistrate denied a motion for judgment of acquittal and permitted the matter to go to the jury after the Appellant had the opportunity to present his defense, effectively ruling that even when all of the allegedly exculpatory information was included, probable cause still existed.

In addition, the Appellees are entitled to qualified immunity from the Appellant's claims of a *Brady* violation, because no such violation is alleged on the face of the Complaint. The necessary element of prejudice is not met under the Appellant's allegations, because the Appellant was acquitted in the underlying trial. The majority of federal circuit courts, including the Fourth Circuit, hold that an acquittal is fatal to a *Brady* claim, as the allegedly withheld evidence could not have caused a wrongful conviction.

Accordingly, the Circuit Court committed no error in dismissing the claims subject to this appeal. Its Orders should be affirmed in their entirety.

IV. STATEMTENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

In accordance with West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 18(a), oral argument is not necessary on this appeal. The facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument. In addition, this appeal is appropriate for disposition by memorandum decision under the criteria of West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 21(c) because there was no prejudicial error committed below.

V. ARGUMENTS

A. Standard of Review.

"Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is de novo." Syl. Pt. 1, Albright v. White, 202 W. Va. 292, 503 S.E.2d 860 (1998) (quoting Syl. Pt. 2, State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W. Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995)).

"The trial court, in appraising the sufficiency of a complaint on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, should not dismiss the complaint unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief." Syllabus, *John W. Lodge Distrib.*Co. v. Texaco, 161 W. Va. 603, 245 S.E.2d 157 (1978) (hereinafter "John W. Lodge"). In reviewing a motion under Rule 12, a Court should "read a pleading liberally and accept as true the well-pleaded allegations of the complaint and the inferences that reasonably may be drawn from the allegations." Kopelman & Associates, L.C. v. Collins, 196 W. Va. 489, 493, 473 S.E.2d 910, 914 (1996). "[A]lthough the plaintiff enjoys the benefit of all inferences that plausibly can be drawn from the pleadings, a party's legal conclusions, opinions, or unwarranted averments of fact will not be deemed admitted." Id.

This Court, and the federal courts covering this jurisdiction, have elaborated on this position with particular clarity as follows:

In view of the liberal policy of the rules of pleading with regard to the construction of plaintiff's complaint, and in view of the policy of the rules favoring the determination of actions on the merits, the motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim should be viewed with disfavor and rarely granted. The standard which plaintiff must meet to overcome a Rule 12(b)(6) motion is a liberal standard, and few complaints fail to meet it. The plaintiff's burden in resisting a motion to dismiss is a relatively light one.

John W. Lodge at 606 (citing Williams v. Wheeling Steel Corp., 266 F. Supp. 651, 654 (N.D. W.Va. 1967) (hereinafter "Williams"). "[A] complaint should not be dismissed for insufficiency unless it appears to a certainty that plaintiff is entitled to no relief under any state of facts which could be proved in support of the claim. Pleadings are to be liberally construed. Mere vagueness or lack of detail is not ground for a motion to dismiss, but should be attacked by a motion for a more definite statement." See Williams at 654.

A. The Circuit Court committed no error in ruling that Appellees James and Ours are entitled to absolute prosecutorial immunity.

Each of the actions of which the Appellant accuses Appellees James and Ours fall within the protective ambit of absolute prosecutorial immunity, and the Circuit Court committed no error in so holding. West Virginia law acknowledges and adopts the well-established common-law immunity extended to prosecuting attorneys in their professional capacity. As summarized by Justice Cleckley in his authoritative *Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure*:

Prosecutors enjoy absolute immunity from civil liability for prosecutorial functions such as, initiating and pursuing a criminal prosecution, presenting a case at trial, and other conduct that is intricately associated with the judicial process. . . . It has been said that absolute prosecutorial immunity cannot be defeated by showing that the prosecutor acted wrongfully or even maliciously, or because the criminal defendant ultimately prevailed on appeal or in a habeas corpus proceeding.

The absolute immunity afforded to prosecutors attaches to the functions they perform, and not merely to the office. Therefore, it has been recognized that a prosecutor is entitled only to qualified immunity when performing actions in an investigatory or administrative capacity.

Franklin D. Cleckley, et al., Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, § 8(c), at 213 (3d ed. 2008); see also Mooney v. Frazier, 225 W. Va. 358, 370 n.12, 693 S.E.2d 333, 345 (2010); Imbler v. Pachtman, 424 U.S. 409, 96 S.Ct. 984, 47 L. Ed. 2d 128 (1976) (extending absolute immunity to prosecutors from civil rights claims). "We have determined that the

immunity should be absolute, in order to extend the same degree of immunity that is provided under W. Va. Code § 29-21-20 for attorneys appointed by our circuit courts and this Court." *Mooney*, 225 W. Va. at 370 n.12, 693 S.E.2d at 345 n.12. The extent of West Virginia common law on this matter is limited. As such, the federal courts provide further guidance on the application and degree of a prosecutor's absolute immunity.

Prosecutors have absolute immunity for activities performed as "an officer of the court" if the conduct at issue is closely associated with the judicial phase of the criminal process. *Van de Kamp v. Goldstein*, 555 U.S. 335, 341 - 343, 129 S.Ct. 855, 172 L.Ed.2d 706 (2009). In determining whether a prosecutor is entitled to absolute immunity, the Court must apply the "functional approach" examining the nature of the function performed. *Id.* at 342. It is well established that prosecutors are absolutely immune "for their conduct in initiating a prosecution and in presenting the State's case, insofar as that conduct is 'intimately associated with the judicial phase of the criminal process." *Burns v. Reed*, 500 U.S. 478, 486, 111 S.Ct. 1934, 114 L.Ed.2d 547 (1991) (quoting *Imbler v. Pachtman*, 424 U.S. 409, 430-431, 96 S.Ct. at 995, 47 L. Ed. 2d 128 (1976)).

However, prosecutorial immunity is not limited to actions taken during court proceedings, and includes "actions preliminary to the initiation of a prosecution and actions apart from the courtroom." *Buckley v. Fitzsimmons*, 509 U.S. 259, 272, 113 S.Ct. 2606, 125 L.Ed.2d 209 (1993) (Internal citations and quotations omitted). "A prosecutor is acting within their role as an 'officer

⁵ W. Va. Code § 29-21-20 states: Any attorney who provides legal representation under the provisions of this article under appointment by a circuit court, family court or by the Supreme Court of Appeals, and whose only compensation therefor is paid under the provisions of this article, shall be immune from liability arising from that representation in the same manner and to the same extent that prosecuting attorneys are immune from liability.

of the court' when performing tasks, such as (1) initiating a judicial proceeding, (2) presenting evidence in support of a search warrant application, (3) conducting a criminal trial, bond hearing, grand jury proceeding or pre-trial hearing, (4) engaging in 'an out-of-court effort to control the presentation of [a] witness' testimony,' and (5) making a 'professional evaluation of the evidence assembled by the police and appropriate preparation for its presentation at trial or before the grand jury after a decision to seek an indictment has been made." *Launi v. Hampshire Cty. Prosecuting Attorney's Office, et al.*, 480 F. Supp. 3d 724, 729-730 (N.D.W.Va. 2020), *aff'd Launi v. James*, No. 20-2010, 2021 U.S. App. LEXIS 33824, 2021 WL 5294933 (4th Cir., Nov. 15, 2021) (internal citations omitted); see also *Buckley* at 272; *Van de Kamp* at 344; *Dababnah v. Keller-Burnside*, 208 F.3d 467, 471 - 472 (4th Cir. 2000)).

A prosecutor's immunity extends even to situations in which they "acted with an improper state of mind or improper motive." *Shmueli v. City of New York*, 424 F.3d 231, 237 (2nd Cir. 2005); also see *Smith v. McCarthy*, 349 Fed.Appx. 851, 859 (4th Cir. 2009), *cert. denied*,562 U.S. 829, 131 S.Ct. 81, 178 L.Ed.2d 26 (2010); *Brown v. Daniel*, 230 F.3d 1351 (4th Cir. 2000) ("[T]o the extent [plaintiff] alleges that the prosecutors engaged in misconduct during the prosecution of this case . . ., the prosecutors are absolutely immune."). Thus, prosecutors are entitled to absolute immunity for withholding materially exculpatory evidence, and knowingly presenting perjured testimony or false or misleading evidence to the Court, or to a grand jury. See *Burns* at 490-92 ("A state prosecuting attorney is absolutely immune from liability for damages under § 1983 for participating in a probable-cause hearing"); *Imbler* at 422 (finding prosecutor entitled to absolute immunity for allegations that he "maliciously and without probable cause procured plaintiff's grand jury indictment by the willful introduction of false and misleading evidence."); also see *Brown v. Daniel*, 230 F.3d at 1352; *Lyles v. Sparks*, 79 F.3d 372, 377 (4th Cir. 1996);

Carter v. Burch, 34 F.3d 257, 263 (4th Cir. 1994), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1150, 115 S. Ct. 1101, 130 L. Ed. 2d 1068 (1995).

1. Appellee James is entitled to absolute prosecutorial immunity from Appellant's claims.

The Appellant contends on appeal that Appellee James acted outside the scope of his prosecutorial role by directing law enforcement resources toward the investigation of Ms. Hartman's report of domestic abuse, and referring the same to Corporal Nazelrod for investigation, which underpins the Appellant's Malicious Prosecution claim. He also alleges that Appellee James revoked Ms. Hartman's bond for a prior DUI charge upon being charged with telephone harassment, purportedly in order to leverage her into pressing charges against the Appellant, which he offers in support of his Abuse of Process claim. Finally, he argues that Appellee James involved himself in a conspiracy with Appellees Ours and Nazelrod in an unspecified capacity to suppress approximately thirty-six minutes of allegedly exculpatory content from a recording of an interview of the Appellant conducted by Appellee Nazelrod, which he claims also supports his Malicious Prosecution claim.

First, referring a report of criminal conduct to a law enforcement officer with jurisdiction to investigate it is clearly a prosecutorial function, as is advising that officer that there is sufficient evidence to charge. In the case of *Springmen v. Williams*, 122 F.3d 211 (4th Cir. 1997), a former criminal defendant sought to bring suit against a prosecutor who had reviewed evidence in a case and advised the investigating officer that there was sufficient evidence to charge. See *Springmen* at 212. The plaintiff therein claimed that this was a police investigative function, rather than a prosecutorial function, and the prosecutor was therefore entitled only to qualified immunity, rather than absolute. The Court rejected that argument, holding that this direction fell under the umbrella

of deciding whether or not to pursue a prosecution, which "falls squarely under [Imbler v. Pachtman, 424 U.S. 409, 47 L. Ed. 2d 128, 96 S. Ct. 984 (1976)]," the seminal case from whence absolute prosecutorial immunity sprung.

What the Appellant has claimed by making this allegation is that Appellee James, confronted with a report of criminal activity, allegedly referred the case to the West Virginia State Police, a law enforcement agency with jurisdiction to investigate it. As such, the basis of the Appellant's claim is an instance of the exercise of prosecutorial discretion, from which a prosecuting attorney is absolutely insulated from liability. The fact that the domestic incident giving rise to the prosecution was ultimately discovered to have occurred outside Hampshire County does not change this analysis. The Appellant has identified no exception in law to a prosecutor's absolute immunity for referring a report of criminal activity to law enforcement for investigation where that investigation ultimately shows the crime was committed outside their jurisdiction. The scope of prosecutorial immunity is a functional approach based on tasks, and not on geography.

The Amended Complaint alleges that Appellee James, as the Hampshire County Prosecutor, received a complaint from Penny Hartman alleging that the Appellant assaulted her. It goes on to allege that Appellee James referred this claim to Appellee Nazelrod with the West Virginia State Police. It seems nonsensical to argue that he had a duty to ignore a claim of domestic abuse just because it may have occurred in a neighboring county. Under the Appellant's theory, law enforcement would not have the ability to report criminal activity across county lines or assist neighboring agencies without forfeiting the immunities provided to them in carrying out their duties. This task is a proper one for a prosecutor who has received a claim of criminal activity, to which absolute immunity attaches. Thus, the Appellant has articulated no reason why absolute

immunity should not apply to Appellee James' decision to refer the Appellant's criminal conduct to the police.

Appellant's Abuse of Process claim, premised upon allegations that Appellee James moved to revoke Ms. Hartman's bond based upon an improper motivation, is equally subject to absolute immunity. He claims that, upon receiving reports that Ms. Hartman was the subject of allegations of telephone harassment, allegations in fact made by the Appellant himself, Mr. James revoked Ms. Hartman's bond in an effort to pressure her to pursue domestic violence charges against the Appellant.

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